1991

Leeann Nay, Matthew and Merissa Nay and
Virginia Nay, Connie Wheeler, Carolyn Gallegher,
Joan Nay and Jalynn Nay v. General Motors
Corporation, GMC Truck Division and Ron
Green Chevrolet Pontiac GMC, Inc. : Brief of
Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

3. Did the trial Court err in granting General Motors' Motion to Require the Appellant to Include Additional Transcripts in Record on Appeal?

Standard of Review: This Court reviews the trial court's conclusions of law for correctness, and no deference is given to the trial court's findings. State By and Through the Div. of Consumer Protection v. Rio Vista Oil, Ltd., 786 P.2d 1343 (Utah 1990); Doelle v. Bradley, 784 P.2d 1176 (Utah 1989); Kelson v. Salt Lake County, 784 P.2d 1152 (Utah 1989); Oates v. Chavez, 749 P.2d 658 (Utah 1988); Scharf v. BMC Corp., 700 P.2d 1068 (1985).

STATUTORY PROVISIONS

Rule 11(e)(2) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure provides:

If the appellant intends to urge on appeal that a finding or conclusion is unsupported by or contrary to the evidence, the appellant shall include in the record a transcript of all evidence relevant to such a finding or conclusion.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Nature of the Case

This is a products liability action concerning a 1986 GMC High Sierra truck which was involved in an accident on September 20, 1986, killing Robert Nay and Wayne Nay. During trial, the appellants contended that the accident was caused when a stone became lodged in a "pinch-point" between the flexible coupling and the end retainer nut on the steering box. The appellants also contended that the "pinch-point" constituted a defect which was unreasonably dangerous to users of the vehicle.

2. Course of the Proceedings

On May 31, 1991, the appellants filed their request for transcripts with the trial court reporter (See letter to Hal Walton, attached as Exhibit "F"). The appellants requested the direct and redirect examination of each of their expert witnesses, Dr. Ben Bayse, Lindley Manning, and David Stephens. The appellants also requested the entire testimony of LeEarl Nay and Matthew Nay.

On June 11, 1991, General Motors filed a Designation of Addition Parts of the Record to be Included in Transcript on Appeal (Attached as Exhibit "G"). In this Designation, General Motors requested that the appellants include in the record on appeal the testimony from its expert witnesses as well as the cross examination of appellants' expert witnesses.

Through a letter dated June 13, 1991, the appellants informed General Motors that they would not request the additional transcripts because the testimony was not relevant to the appeal (See letter from Steve Morgan to H. James Clegg, attached as Exhibit "H".) On June 24, 1991, General Motors filed a motion to require the appellants to include the requested transcripts in the record on appeal (attached as Exhibit "I"). The appellants filed a memorandum in opposition to this motion on June 28, 1991 (attached as Exhibit "J"). General Motors filed a reply memorandum on July 2, 1991 (attached as Exhibit "K").

Through a minute entry dated July 16, 1991, the trial court granted General Motors' motion (attached as Exhibit "L"). An order to this effect was prepared by General Motors' counsel (attached as Exhibit "M").

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A full statement of the facts is contained in the appellants' original brief. The facts relevant to this portion of the appeal are contained in the Course of the Proceedings above.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Rule 11(e) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure provides that the appellant shall provide the appellate court with all transcripts which are relevant to the appeal. The issue before this Court is whether the testimony sought by General Motors is relevant to this appeal.

The appellants are contending before this Court that the directed verdict granted to General Motors by the trial court was erroneous. In reviewing this directed verdict, this Court applies the following standard:

We must examine the evidence in the light most favorable to the losing party, and if there is a reasonable basis in the evidence and in the inferences to be drawn therefrom that would support a judgement in favor of the losing party, the directed verdict cannot be sustained.

Management Comm. v. Greystone Pines, 652 P.2d 896 (Utah 1986). Since the issue is whether the appellants introduced sufficient evidence to state a claim against General Motors, the appellants contend that the only evidence necessary to decide the appeal is that evidence introduced by the appellants. If that evidence states a claim against General Motors, the directed verdict must be reversed. If the evidence does not state a claim for relief, the verdict stands. There is simply no need to include evidence introduced by the respondent on appeal.

The appellants assert that this case is controlled by Koer v. Mayfair Mkts., 19 Utah 2d 339, 431 P.2d 566 (1967). In Koer, this court found that in reviewing directed verdicts, all evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the appellants and all evidence contradicting the appellants' evidence must be discarded. Id. at 343, 431 P.2d at 569. There is no need to include the respondent's expert witness testimony because this Court must disregard it anyway.

The appellants filed their brief with this Court long before the trial court ordered the additional transcripts included. In that brief, the appellants did not rely on any of General Motors' expert witness testimony. This is *prima facie* evidence that such evidence is irrelevant to this appeal.

ARGUMENT

IV.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY REQUIRING THE APPELLANTS TO SUPPLEMENT THE RECORD WITH GENERAL MOTORS' EXPERT WITNESS TESTIMONY AND CROSS EXAMINATION OF APPELLANTS' EXPERTS.

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews the trial court's conclusions of law for correctness, and no deference is given to the trial court's findings. State By and Through the Div. of Consumer Protection v. Rio Vista Oil, Ltd., 786 P.2d 1343 (Utah 1990); Doelle v. Bradley, 784 P.2d 1176 (Utah 1989); Kelson v. Salt Lake County, 784 P.2d 1152 (Utah 1989); Oates v. Chavez, 749 P.2d 658 (Utah 1988); Scharf v. BMC Corp., 700 P.2d 1068 (1985).

B. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REQUIRING APPELLANTS TO SUPPLEMENT THE RECORD

Rule 11(e)(2) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure provides that "[i]f the appellant intends to urge on appeal that a finding or conclusion is unsupported by or is contrary to the evidence, the appellant shall include in the record a transcript of all evidence relevant to such a finding or conclusion." U.R.App.P. 11(e)(2). The issue before this Court is whether the additional transcripts requested by General Motors are relevant to the appeal,

and therefore must be provided in the record¹. The appellants urge that these transcripts are not relevant and should not have been included.

The appellants have asked this Court to reverse the directed verdict granted to General Motors by the trial court. This Court applies the following standard of review in addressing directed verdicts:

We must examine the evidence in the light most favorable to the losing party, and if there is a reasonable basis in the evidence and in the inferences to be drawn therefrom that would support a judgement in favor of the losing party, the directed verdict cannot be sustained.

Management Comm. v. Greystone Pines, 652 P.2d 896 (Utah 1986); See also Little America Refining Co. v. Leyba, 641 P.2d 112 (Utah 1982); Kim v. Anderson, 610 P.2d 1270 (Utah 1980); Asay v. Rappleye, 593 P.2d 132 (Utah 1979). Furthermore, the evidence must be such that reasonable men could not arrive different conclusions. Anderson v. Gribble, 30 Utah 2d 68, 513 P.2d 432 (1973); Rhiness v. Dansie, 24 Utah 2d 375, 472 P.2d 428 (1970). Thus, reversal is

¹ General Motors has requested the transcripts on their own accord. Therefore, the requested transcripts will be part of the record on appeal regardless of the outcome of this portion of the appeal. However, Rule 11(e)(3) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure requires the appellant to pay for the relevant transcripts. Thus, while the issue has been framed as whether the additional transcripts are relevant to the appeal, the true issue is whether the appellants should be forced to pay for these transcripts.

appropriate if the appellants can establish sufficient evidence of each element of their claim against General Motors. Hansen v. Stewart, 761 P.2d 14 (Utah 1988); Koer v. Mayfair Mkts., 19 Utah 2d 339, 431 P.2d 566 (1967).

The appellants assert that this case is controlled by Koer v. Mayfair Mkts., 19 Utah 2d 339, 431 P.2d 566 (1967). In Koer, this Court found that:

In disposing of a post verdict motion as well as in directed verdicts, all of the testimony and all reasonable inferences flowing therefrom which tend to prove the plaintiff's case must be accepted as true, and all conflicts and all evidence which tends to disprove it must be disregarded.

Koer, 19 Utah 2d at 342, 431 P.2d at 569 (citing Boskovich v. Utah Constr. Co., 123 Utah 387, 259 P.2d 885 (1953)). This is consistent with the general principle that all evidence on appeal must be viewed most favorably to the losing party. Management Comm. v. Greystone Pines, 652 P.2d 896 (Utah 1986); Boskovich v. Utah Constr. Co., 123 Utah 387, 259 P.2d 885 (1953).

Applying this standard to the subject case, the transcripts requested by General Motors are not relevant to this appeal. General Motors requested the cross examination of the appellants' expert witnesses. The purpose of this cross examination was to discredit these witnesses. But Koer mandates that all conflicts be disregarded and the appellants' evidence be accepted

as true. Therefore, there is no need to require the appellant to include in the record on appeal transcripts which will not, and cannot, be used by this court in reviewing the directed verdict.

The trial court also required the appellants to include the testimony of General Motors expert witnesses. These witnesses each testified that the accident was not caused by stone interference, as the appellants asserted, but rather was caused by driver error. Each of the appellants' expert witnesses testified that there was no driver error. Under Koer, this Court must accept as true the appellants' expert witnesses testimony. There is simply no need for General Motors' expert witness testimony because these witnesses testified contrary to the appellants' experts and, under Koer, the appellants' testimony must be accepted as true.

The Utah Supreme Court has also specifically held that Utah appellate courts are not to weigh the evidence on appeal or determine facts by a preponderance of the evidence. Finlayson v. Brady, 121 Utah 204, 240 P.2d 491 (1952). Under Finlayson, the Court may not use General Motors' expert witness testimony or its cross examination of appellants' expert witnesses to discredit the appellants' explanation of the accident. Rather, the appellants' explanation of the cause of the accident must be accepted as true.

Finally, the appellants filed their brief with this Court before the testimony sought to be included by General Motors was transcribed by the trial court reporter. In their brief, the appellant neither cite to nor refer to the testimony sought by General Motors. The appellants were able to meet their burden of establishing evidence of each element of their claim against General Motors without the transcripts requested by General Motors. This is perhaps the best evidence of all that there is no need for the transcripts requested by General Motors.


C. CONCLUSION

The transcripts requested by General Motors should not be included in the record on appeal. Under Koer v. Mayfair Mkts., 19 Utah 2d 339, 431 P.2d 566 (1967), all evidence offered by the appellants must be regarded as true, and any evidence that is contrary to the appellants' evidence must be disregarded. General Motors wants to include their expert witness testimony and the cross examination of appellants' expert witnesses for the sole purpose of discrediting the evidence offered by the appellants. This is impermissible under Koer. Furthermore, the transcripts requested by General Motors should be excluded because this court cannot use them in determining the cause of the accident. Finlayson v. Brady, 121 Utah 204, 240 P.2d 491 (1952).

The appellants have filed their brief without reference to the requested transcripts. General Motors is capable of arguing the validity of the directed verdict without these transcripts. The trial court's order granting General Motors' Motion to Require Appellant to Include Additional Transcripts in the Record on Appeal should be reversed.