1991

In the Matter of the Estate of Clarence I. Justheim : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The Beneficiaries have waived their parol evidence rule and estoppel objections. The Beneficiaries first complained after a verdict and judgment had been rendered. The Beneficiaries have never specified the evidence which should have been excluded. They are too late. Co-Vest Corp. v. Corbett, 735 P.2d 1308 (Utah 1987); Beehive Medical Electronics, Inc. v. Square D Co., 669 P.2d 859 (Utah 1983); Peterson v. Hansen-Niederhauser, Inc., 13 Utah 2d 355, 374 P.2d 513 (1962).

⁸ Exhibit D is incorrectly dated January 21, 1983. All parties stipulated that the correct date was January 21, 1984. (Tr. 2898.31-32).

The parol evidence rule violation relates to the Codicil which Ray offered as collateral evidence to the ultimate issue of whether or not the gifts were valid. The parol evidence contradicted a factual recital in the Codicil, not its terms. No evidence of integration was offered. Therefore, the parol evidence rule was inapplicable. Weaver v. Modula, 557 P.2d 152 (Utah 1976); Union Bank v. Swenson, 707 P.2d 663 (Utah 1985); Fullmer v. Morrill, 2 Utah 2d 347, 273 P.2d 885 (1954).

The Beneficiaries did not offer any evidence at trial and do not assert on appeal that: (1) Ray made a false representation to or concealed any material facts from them; (2) they were without knowledge or the means of knowledge of the true facts; (3) Ray intended to induce them to detrimentally change their position; and (4) they relied on Ray's conduct or silence to their detriment. Absent that evidence, estoppel is inapplicable. Colman v. Colman, 743 P.2d 782 (Utah Ct. App. 1987).

The Beneficiaries have failed to demonstrate that the trial court abused its discretion in excluding Exhibits A, B, C and D pursuant to Rule 403 of the Utah Rules of Evidence. The exhibits were irrelevant. The exhibits did not support the theory for which they were offered. The testimony of Morgan Jr., the exhibits' author, contradicted the exhibits' content. The trial court considered the entire exhibits and their substance was considered by the jury. The exhibits were cumulative and accused Ray of speculative and collateral misconduct. The danger

of unfair prejudice substantially outweighed the exhibits' probative value. Utah R. Evid. 403.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING BENEFICIARIES A NEW TRIAL BASED ON THE ALLEGED IMPROPER ADMISSION OF PAROL EVIDENCE.

The Beneficiaries assert the trial court improperly admitted certain parol evidence, entitling them to a new trial. To reverse, this Court must determine that the trial court transgressed all reasonable bounds of discretion in finding that the parol evidence rule was inapplicable and therefore, denied Beneficiaries a new trial. Lembach v. Cox, 639 P.2d 197, 201 (Utah 1981), *overruled on other grounds*, 728 P.2d 117 (1986); Lee v. Howes, 548 P.2d 619, 621 (Utah 1976).

A. The Beneficiaries Have Waived Any Alleged Error.

The Beneficiaries did not raise the issue of parol evidence in the pretrial order. (R. 2490-2525). The Beneficiaries made no pretrial motion to exclude any parol evidence. The Beneficiaries concede their failure to object to the admission of any parol evidence during trial. (Appellants' Brief, at 15). The Beneficiaries did not move to strike the parol evidence during trial. The Beneficiaries first raised the issue after the trial court had rendered its decision and the jury had rendered its verdict.⁹ The Beneficiaries have never

⁹ The Beneficiaries imply that they have preserved their objection by raising it in their post-trial motions. (Appellants' Brief, at 15). The Beneficiaries have not cited any law. In Utah, a motion to strike improper evidence made after a verdict has been rendered is untimely. See Peterson v. Hansen-

specified the evidence which they claim should have been excluded.

The Beneficiaries argue their failure to object during trial should not preclude this Court from addressing the parol evidence issue. (Appellants' Brief, at 15-17). The Beneficiaries suggest there is a "modern trend" to address the parol evidence rule on appeal despite a party's failure to object at trial. (Id. at 16-17). The Beneficiaries rely on an annotation at 81 A.L.R. 3d 249. (Id. at 16). That annotation does not show a trend, past or modern. The annotation was published thirteen years ago. The original annotation cites twenty-three states and one federal jurisdiction allegedly supporting the Beneficiaries' position. The cases from those jurisdictions range in dates from 1944 to 1975. 81 A.L.R. 3d, at 257-59, 264-66. The original annotation also cites twenty-two states which preclude the parol evidence issue on appeal. Id. at 254, 256, 260-62. At most, the original annotation shows a split across the country.

The updated annotation shows a greater trend to preclude the parol evidence rule on appeal absent an objection

Niederhauser, Inc., 13 Utah 2d 355, 374 P.2d 513, 515 (1962). "Expansion on non-specific objections in a motion for a new trial or in a brief on appeal . . . does not cure the lack of timeliness in making proper objections to the trial court." Beehive Medical Electronics, Inc. v. Square D Co., 669 P.2d 859, 861 (Utah 1983) (emphasis added). If a motion for a new trial cannot cure an untimely non-specific objection, an entirely new objection raised on a motion for new trial can not preserve the issue for appeal.

during trial. 81 A.L.R. 3d 249 (Supp. 1990). The 1990 Supplement lists twelve jurisdictions precluding the issue on appeal and eight jurisdictions allowing the issue. Two of the jurisdictions precluding the issue (Oklahoma and Michigan) were listed by the original annotation as jurisdictions which did not preclude the issue on appeal.

More significant is that neither the annotation nor the Beneficiaries have referred to Utah's position. Rule 103 of the Utah Rules of Evidence states:

(a) **Effect of Erroneous Ruling.** Error may not be predicated upon a ruling which admits or excludes evidence unless a substantial right of the party is affected, and

(1) **Objection.** In case the ruling is one admitting evidence, a timely objection or motion to strike appears of record, stating the specific ground of objection, if the specific ground was not apparent from the context

(emphasis added). The objection must be made prior to or during trial and the grounds for the objection must be "clear and specific." State v. Schreuder, 726 P.2d 1215, 1222 (Utah 1986). See also State v. Malmrose, 649 P.2d 56, 58 (Utah 1982); Stagmeyer v. Latham Bros., Inc., 20 Utah 2d 421, 439 P.2d 279, 282 (1968).

Rule 103 applies to the admission of parol evidence. In Co-Vest Corp. v. Corbett, 735 P.2d 1308 (Utah 1987), this Court held that the appellants had waived any claim that extrinsic evidence should have been excluded by their failure to object at the trial level. Id. at 1309. The only issue at trial

was the construction of a written instrument. Both sides offered parol evidence. Neither party objected. The trial court rendered its decision. Appellants first raised the issue on appeal. This Court wrote: "Because defendants did not object to the extrinsic evidence at the trial level, they cannot claim on appeal that the document is clear and unambiguous and is not subject to interpretationn [sic] with extrinsic evidence."

The Beneficiaries argue judicial economy will be served by adopting a rule that parol evidence need not be objected to at trial.¹⁰ (Appellants' Brief, at 17). To the contrary, such a rule would destroy judicial economy and cause considerable waste to the courts and litigants. If the Beneficiaries' position were adopted, Rule 103 ignored and Co-Vest overruled, an element of "risk and advantage" would exist. See Petersen v. Hansen - Niederhauser, Inc., 13 Utah 2d 355, 374 P.2d 513, 515 (1962). A party could remain silent as inadmissible evidence is admitted. If the evidence is favorable, the party could permit it to stand and argue it to the factfinder. Id. After losing, the party could appeal and be guaranteed a reversal and new trial. Id. The opposing party would be subjected to the cost and delay of the appeal and new trial, all of which could be avoided by a timely objection.

¹⁰ The Beneficiaries cite Furniture Manufacturers Sales, Inc. v. Deamer, 680 P.2d 398 (Utah 1984) as an illustration of how judicial economy will be served. (Appellants' Brief, at 17). To the contrary, Deamer does not address judicial economy at all. Deamer does illustrate, however, that if a party does not object at trial, any error is waived. Id. at 400.

This case is a perfect example. The Beneficiaries remained silent as the alleged inadmissible evidence was received. (Appellants' Brief, at 15). On cross-examination, the Beneficiaries elicited from Ray testimony of the alleged inconsistency between the first gift and the factual recital of Clarence's stock ownership in the Codicil. (Tr. 2907.149-50, 165-67). In opening and closing, the Beneficiaries argued the Codicil conclusively established that the first gift was inconsistent and false. (Tr. 2907.33-34, 2905.146). Having taken the risk and lost, the Beneficiaries now want the advantage of a new trial. The Beneficiaries' position creates judicial instability and judges would become advocates. To preserve the reliability of verdicts and judgments, judges would have to take the initiative to object, or remind counsel to object and exclude the evidence. That burden is too onerous. The need for timely objections is as vital for violations of the parol evidence rule as any other evidence. The Beneficiaries should not be allowed to do nothing to exclude the alleged inadmissible evidence, elicit testimony and offer evidence of the alleged inconsistency, argue the alleged inconsistency to the jury and trial judge and after losing the case argue that the evidence should have been excluded.

B. The Parol Evidence Rule is Inapplicable.

The Beneficiaries' attempt to apply the parol evidence rule is misplaced. The parol evidence rule is a "principle of contract interpretation . . . [with] a very narrow application."

Union Bank v. Swenson, 707 P.2d 663, 665 (Utah 1985). The parol evidence rule applies when the basis of the action is the construction and enforcement of a written document. Edmonds v. Galey, 458 P.2d 650, 652 (Wyo. 1969). In that case, parol evidence is not admissible to contradict or vary the clear and unambiguous terms of the written document. Union Bank v. Swenson, 707 P.2d at 665.

The Beneficiaries assert the trial court improperly admitted parol evidence which varied or contradicted the Codicil. The action, however, was not brought to construe and enforce the terms of the Codicil. It is undisputed that the Codicil lacked the requisite witnesses to create an effective testamentary device. The sole purpose of this action was to determine the validity of two gifts.¹¹ Ray offered the Codicil merely as collateral evidence of his relationship with Clarence and Clarence's intent that Ray ultimately receive the Wyoco stock.

The parol evidence rule is inapplicable where the alleged violation of the rule relates to a document which is offered as collateral evidence to the ultimate issue. Weaver v. Modula, 557 P.2d 152, 153 (Utah 1976). In Weaver, a real estate agent sued to recover commissions from the prospective sellers.

¹¹ The Beneficiaries argue that both gifts should be invalidated. (Appellants' Brief, at 7-8, 21). However, neither the parol evidence rule nor the estoppel theory affect the second gift. Clarence's factual recital in the Codicil is only inconsistent with the first gift.

Id. at 152-53. The agent sought to have his agreement with the sellers construed and enforced. The written agency agreement stated that the sellers would pay the agent a commission if he found "'a party who is ready, able and willing to buy'"

Id. at 153. Parol evidence regarding various agreements between the sellers and a prospective buyer was received. The trial court found that the agent had not found an "able" buyer and, therefore, was not entitled to recover his commissions.

On appeal, the agent asserted the trial court improperly admitted parol evidence. This Court held that the violation of the parol evidence rule related to the terms of the contracts between the sellers and the buyer, not the agency contract between the agent and the sellers. The agency contract was the basis of the lawsuit and therefore, the parol evidence rule was inapplicable. See also Edmonds v. Galey, 458 P.2d 650 (Wyo. 1969) (The Wyoming Supreme Court held that parol evidence was admissible to construe a deed which was offered as collateral evidence to the ultimate issue. It did not vary the terms of the agreement between the plaintiffs and defendants. Id. at 651-52); Lee v. Kimura, 634 P.2d 1043 (Haw. Ct. App. 1981) (The Hawaii Court of Appeals held that parol evidence was admissible to construe a lease which was offered as collateral evidence of the agreement between the parties, as co-lessees. Id. at 1045-46); Doelle v. Ireco Chemicals, 391 F.2d 6, 9 (10th Cir. 1968).

The Wyoming Supreme Court stated the rule as follows:

[T]he parol evidence rule, like most things, has its exceptions. It does not apply where the writing is

collateral to the issue involved, and the action is not based on such writing. To state it another way, the parol evidence rule applies only where the enforcement of an obligation created by the writing is substantially the cause of action. . . .

Edmonds, 458 P.2d at 652. Here, Ray did not seek to enforce the Codicil. Ray offered the Codicil as collateral evidence of Clarence's intent to make the gifts. The parol evidence rule was inapplicable.

C. The Parol Evidence Rule Does Not Apply to Factual Recitals.

The Codicil in its entirety states:

I, Clarence I. Justheim, being of sound and disposing mind and memory and free from all menace, fraud, duress, undue influence or restraint whatsoever, do hereby make this Codicil to my Last Will and Testament which was signed by me, June 22, 1978.

Prior Disposition I hereby revoke all prior bequests and testamentary dispositions made by me concerning my interest and stockholdings in the Wyoming Petroleum Corp., of which I own approximately Fifty percent (50%).

I hereby give, bequeath, and devise to Raymond A. Ray, to be his absolutely, without accountability in the distribution provided for in the residuary of my said Will, all of my interest and stockholdings in the Wyoming Petroleum Corp., if he is living, otherwise to his children, if any are living, children of deceased children to take by right of representation.

I have hereunder set my hand, this 29th day of May, 1981.

GRANTOR:

Clarence I. Justheim

(Tr. Ex. 2). The phrase which the Beneficiaries contend has been varied by the admission of certain unidentified parol evidence

is: "of which I own approximately Fifty percent (50%)."

Clarence's declaration of his ownership percentage is a factual recital.

The parol evidence rule does not exclude evidence which contradicts or varies factual recitals. In Fullmer v. Morrill, 2 Utah 2d 347, 273 P.2d 885 (1954), the plaintiffs agreed to sell to defendants 76 head of cattle, among other things. Subsequently, the parties executed an "Agreement" expressing the defendants' promise to return the 76 head of cattle "together with all increase of cattle, consisting in all, 88 (eighty-eight)" Id. at 885-86.

A dispute arose over four cattle. Id. at 886. At trial, plaintiffs unsuccessfully contended that the four cattle were included in the "88" recited in the "Agreement." On appeal, the plaintiffs argued the "Agreement" required defendants to return 88 head of cattle and defendants could not vary that obligation by the admission of parol evidence. Id. at 887. This Court held that the defendants had promised to return the original 76 head of cattle and "all the increase." This Court further held that the words "'consisting in all, 88 (eighty-eight) head'" was not part of the promise, but merely a recital of fact. This Court then held that "parol evidence is admissible to contradict a false recital of fact, the parol evidence rule applying only to the *terms* of the Contract." See also Garrett v.

Ellison, 72 P.2d 449 (Utah 1937)¹² (This Court held that the parol evidence rule prohibits the admission of parol evidence to vary "terms" of a contract, but not factual recitals. Id. at 451-53).

Although the Codicil had no testamentary effect, one of its clear and unambiguous "terms" was that Ray receive all Clarence's Wyoco stock. The Beneficiaries do not claim evidence varying that term was improperly admitted.¹³ The Beneficiaries' only claim is that evidence contradicting Clarence's factual recital was improperly admitted. The parol evidence rule does not prohibit extrinsic evidence which varies factual recitals.

D. The Beneficiaries Offered No Evidence of Integration.

The parol evidence rule is only applicable where the parties intended that the written document constitute the sole and entire agreement between the parties. Union Bank v. Swenson,

¹² The Beneficiaries rely on Garrett for the general proposition that Utah considers the parol evidence rule a substantive rule rather than a rule of evidence. (Appellants' Brief, at 14). The Beneficiaries recognize that this Court did not apply the parol evidence rule in Garrett. (Id. at 15). The Beneficiaries, however, fail to explain why. Although Garrett is cited here for the proposition that the parol evidence rule does not apply to factual recitals, it is another excellent example that parol evidence may be admitted to vary an instrument which is collateral to the primary issue.

¹³ The gift is not inconsistent with the Codicil's term that Ray receive all the Wyoco stock. The gift fulfills that term. The gift is only inconsistent with Clarence's factual recital. That inconsistency may be more apparent than real. For instance, Clarence might have made the Codicil as a precaution against the possibility, in his mind, that the first gift might be invalid because the stock was not transferred into Ray's name during Clarence's life.

707 P.2d 663, 665 (Utah 1985). There is no expression of integration in the Codicil. (Tr. Ex. 2). The Beneficiaries offered no evidence of integration. Thus, the parol evidence rule is not applicable.

POINT II.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION WHEN
IT DENIED BENEFICIARIES A NEW TRIAL BECAUSE
ESTOPPEL WAS INAPPLICABLE

The Beneficiaries assert Ray should have been estopped from claiming any gifts. The Beneficiaries assert the trial court erred in finding that estoppel was inapplicable and therefore, they are entitled to a new trial. To reverse, this Court must determine that the trial court transgressed all reasonable bounds of discretion in denying Beneficiaries a new trial.

A. The Beneficiaries Have Waived Any Alleged Error.

Estoppel must be pleaded or it is waived. See Manger v. Davis, 619 P.2d 687, 692 (Utah 1980). The Beneficiaries did not plead estoppel in their petition. (R. 61-66). The Beneficiaries did not assert estoppel in the pretrial order. (R. 2490-2525). Prior to trial, the Beneficiaries did not move to exclude any evidence based on an estoppel theory. The Beneficiaries did not object to the admission of or move to strike any evidence during trial pursuant to their estoppel theory. The Beneficiaries did not move for a directed verdict based on their estoppel theory. The Beneficiaries first raised the estoppel theory in their "Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding

the Verdict and Oral Judgment of the Court"¹⁴ after the jury had rendered its verdict and the trial court had rendered its decision. The Beneficiaries are too late.

B. Estoppel Was Precluded By the Pretrial Order and Pretrial Motions.

The parties' Supplemental Pretrial Order excluded certain issues. (Id.) At most, Beneficiaries could argue that the estoppel theory is included in the issues precluded by the Supplemental Pretrial Order. The Beneficiaries agreed to the exclude those issues. In addition, the trial court granted two pretrial motions in limine. (R. 2526-33, 65-67, 84-88; Tr. 2898.4-10, 2907.4-6. Those motions were granted because the issues had been tried during the trial on the Removal Issue and the Beneficiaries had been unable to proffer any additional evidence. (Tr. 2898.4-10, 2907.4-6). The Beneficiaries have not appealed those rulings.

C. Estoppel is Inapplicable.

Estoppel is not favored. University of Colorado v. Silverman, 555 P.2d 1155, 1158 (Colo. 1976); Tribble v. Reely, 557 P.2d 813, 818 (Mont. 1976). The purpose of equitable estoppel is "'to prevent one party from deluding or inducing another into a position where he will unjustly suffer loss.'"

¹⁴ Although the estoppel theory was initially asserted in this motion, it was incorporated by reference into the Motion for New Trial. The Beneficiaries have appealed the trial court's denial of the new trial. (Docketing Statement, dated September 27, 1989, at 5).

FMA Financial Corp. v. Hansen Dairy, Inc., 617 P.2d 327, 330

(Utah 1980) (footnote omitted). The elements of estoppel are:

(1) A false representation or concealment of material facts; (2) made with knowledge, actual or constructive, of the facts; (3) made to a party who is without knowledge or the means of knowledge of the real facts; (4) made with the intention that the representation be acted upon; and (5) the party to whom the representation was made relied or acted upon it to his prejudice.

Colman v. Colman, 743 P.2d 782, 790 (Utah Ct. App. 1987). See also Triple I Supply, Inc. v. Sunset Rail, Inc., 652 P.2d 1298, 1301-02 (Utah 1982). Each element must be proven or there can be no estoppel. Colman, 743 P.2d at 790.

1. No Standing -- The Beneficiaries do not have standing to assert estoppel against Ray. The Beneficiaries do not assert that Ray made a false representation to or concealed material facts from them. Evidence of any such claim was excluded. (R. 2565-67, 84-88; Tr. 2907.4-6). The Beneficiaries have not appealed that order. The Beneficiaries contend Ray failed to remind Clarence of the first gift when Clarence executed the Codicil. Thus, it is Clarence who possessed any claim of estoppel against Ray, not the Beneficiaries.

2. Without Knowledge -- The material facts must be concealed from a person "without knowledge or the means of knowledge of the real facts." Colman, 743 P.2d at 790. The Beneficiaries offered no evidence of their knowledge of the true facts. Clarence had knowledge of the true facts. Clarence was the donor. Thus, when Clarence executed the Codicil, he knew or

should have known that the factual recital of his ownership percentage was incorrect.

3. Intent to induce is required -- Any concealment of material fact must be intended to induce the other's detrimental change in position. Triple I, 652 P.2d at 1301. The Beneficiaries offered no evidence that Ray intended to induce them to change their position. In fact, the Beneficiaries have not asserted that Ray communicated with them in any manner regarding the gift. Absent some communication, Ray could not have induced the Beneficiaries into any type of detrimental conduct. Id. at 1302. The Beneficiaries also offered no proof that Ray intended to induce Clarence to change his position.

4. Must prove detrimental reliance -- There was no detrimental reliance. The Beneficiaries offered no evidence that Clarence relied on Ray's silence to his prejudice. Furthermore, the Beneficiaries offered no evidence that they relied on Ray's silence to their prejudice. The Beneficiaries have implicitly acknowledged the lack of any detrimental reliance. (Appellants' Brief, at 18-19).

POINT III.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY EXCLUDING EXHIBITS A, B, C AND D

At the beginning of trial, the Beneficiaries expressed their intent to call Morgan Jr. as a witness, to use in opening statement four letters written by Morgan Jr. to Ray, marked as Exhibits A, B, C and D, and to offer those letters as evidence

during trial. (Tr. 2898.10, 16-19). Ray moved to exclude Morgan Jr.'s testimony and the letters because they were irrelevant and unfairly prejudicial. (Tr. 2989.13, 16-17). After substantial discussion, the trial court refused to exclude Morgan Jr.'s testimony on the subject, but excluded the letters pursuant to Rule 403 of the Utah Rules of Evidence. (Tr. 2989.43, 46, 48, 52-54, 60). Exclusion of the letters was contingent on Ray's written stipulation admitting certain portions of the letters which the trial court decided were relevant.¹⁵ (Tr. 2898.43-46, 48, 60). Over his objection, Ray entered into the written stipulation. (Id.; R. 2594-95) The written stipulation was to be admitted as evidence to the jury. (Tr. 2898.45). The Beneficiaries contend the letters should have been admitted in their entirety.

A. Probative Value v. Dangers of Unfair Prejudice, Confusion, Delay and Undue Repetition.

Rule 403 of the Utah Rules of Evidence states:

Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.

By the Rule's express language, the trial judge must balance the probative value of the evidence against the danger of certain

¹⁵ The trial court excluded Exhibit C in its entirety because the relevant portion was cumulative. (Tr. 2898.52-53). Exhibit C merely repeated what was written in Exhibits A and B and the Beneficiaries conceded that no change of position had occurred between the dates of Exhibits B and C. (Id.)

factors which may improperly influence the jury. State v. Maurer, 770 P.2d 981, 984 (Utah 1989). After balancing those interests, if the improper factors outweigh the probative value of the proffered evidence, it may be excluded.

B. The Letters Had No Probative Value.

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